72118-4

1 *

72718-4

No. 72718-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Norman Cohen,

Appellant,

٧.

Ralph Carr, Jr. and Michael L Flynn,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the King County Superior Court

Case No. 13-2-38375-6 SEA

The Honorable Roger Rogoff

I. Introduction:

i

In November, 2013 appellant Norman Cohen, hereinafter "Cohen" sued attorney Michael Flynn, hereinafter "Flynn" and Ralph Carr, Jr., hereinafter "Carr". Cohen sued both of them for their misconduct in the course of litigating "the 10-2-34254-1 matter".

A. Cohen's suit against Flynn

Cohen, who is suing as his wife's assignee as well as in his own right, has sued Flynn for violating the rules of professional conduct, based on a juridical estoppel theory. Cohen claims Flynn is estopped from asserting CR 12(b) (6) as a defense to Cohen's action for violating the rules of professional conduct because, in a case of role

[3]

reversal, "Messrs. Flynn and Carr prosecuted an action for violations of the RPCs against Cohen,

B. Cohen's Suit against Carr

Ł

Appellant sues Carr for wrongful garnishment alleging several theories of recovery. Appellant's primary theory is that Carr is collaterally estopped from denying the wrongfulness of that garnishment.

C The trial court committed reversible procedural error

The trial court erroneously embarked upon a fact finding process when considering three motions for summary. The reversible error Cohen complains about is manifested at Page 1, lines 13-16 Order on Summary Judgment CP 225. The court stated

The above entitled court having read both parties motions for respective summary judgments, each party's response, and each party's reply, and having read and reviewed the exhibits and declarations attached thereto, and the Court having reviewed the files and pleadings herein, the Court hereby makes the following <u>FINDINGS</u> and issues the following order :

Emphasis added

The trial court effectively transformed three motions for summary judgment into three mini trials by affidavit, an impermissible adventure. When a court considers a motion for summary judgment the court is not permitted to make findings; au contraire.

II. Assignments of Error

- k

- The trial court erred by granting Flynn's motion for summary judgment and erroneously dismissed appellant's action against him for damages caused by attorney Flynn's violations of the rules of professional conduct.
- The trial court erroneously granted Carr's motion for summary judgment and erroneously dismissed appellant's wrongful garnishment action.
- The trial court erred by denying appellant's motion for partial summary judgment against Carr on appellant's cause of action for wrongful garnishment. Appellant sought summary judgment on the liability issue and for one specific element of damage.

A, Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

 When considering three motions for summary judgment did the trial court err by engaging in a fact finding endeavor and or by failing to view the evidence in a light most favorably to the nonmoving party. Assignments 1, 2,3,4 & 5

1

- Is attorney Flynn judicially estopped from defending appellants' claims for damages arising from his violations of the RPCs? Assignment I & 4
- Has appellant made at least a prima facie case that "Flynn took a different position" in the underlying case by virtue of adducing evidence that
 - (a) Flynn prepared, signed and served Carr's Case No. 10-2-34254-1 which is a lawsuit seeking money judgment for appellant's violation of the RPC's constitute within the meaning of <u>Hizey v. Carpenter</u>, Assignments 1 & 4 & 5; and/or
 - (b) Flynn has interposed a CR 12 (b)(6) defense to Appellant's suit against Flynn for violations

[6]

of the RPCs, but Flynn argued that CR 12 (b)(6) was not a good and sufficient defense to Carr's suit against Cohen for violations of the RPCs.

١

- (c) On June 8. 2012 Flynn persuaded Judge Yu to grant Carr's motion for summary judgment and enter money judgment against appellant for damages caused by appellant's violation of the RPC? Assignments 1 & 4 & 5,
- (d) The parties' briefs in the above and foregoing summary judgment proceeding portray a stark contrast between Flynn's position in the case sub judice and the underlying case. (E) Is Carr collaterally estopped from denying that he tortiously wrongfully) garnished Keith-Miller's wages? Assignments 2, 3, 4

(e) Did the trial court fail to recognize that Carr's liability is not predicated solely on RCW 6.26.040? Carr' liability is also based on a conversion theory, negligence per se theory, an outrageous conduct theory, and on the theory that violations of some

[7]

criminal statutes give rise to civil liability. In all events did the trial court misconstrue the statute? Assignments 2, 3, 4

t

(f) Is Carr collaterally estopped from denying liability for the wrongful garnishment of November 10, 2010. Did the trial court misconstrue the wrongful garnishment statute leading it to erroneously dismiss both his statutory and his common law tort action? Did the trial court erroneously under appreciate the effect of Keith-Miller's 2013 assignments and erroneously dismiss Appellant' lawsuit based on a settlement to which he was not a party? Assignments 2, 3 & 4

III. Statement of the Case

Appellant sued Ralph Carr Jr & Michael Flynn on November 13, 2013. CP 103-106. Appellant sued Carr for wrongful garnishment. He sued attorney Flynn for damages caused by Flynn's violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct in the course of

[8]

representing Carr in Cause No. 2 34254-I. CP 103-106. Appellant's theory of recovery is that Flynn is judicially estopped from interposing his otherwise valid defense of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. CP 105

,

.

Ralph Carr is appellant's former client. Appellant represented Carr in an employment action circa 1998 - 2000. In the course of representing Car appellant violated the RPC's. These violations resulted in a December 12 2000 \$8,118.75 money judgment against Carr in favor or one of the defendants. CP 4; CP 43-45; CP 46-57; CP 58-62; CP 110-113. Before the 10-2-34254-1 civil action was initiated. Carr filed a complaint with the Bar Association resulting in a March 23, 2006 Supreme Court Disciplinary Order disbarring appellant and 1 ordering Appellant to pay Carr \$8118.75 and interest from the date of the December 12, 2000 judgment until fully paid. CP 4; CP 103-106

[9]

The record is not clear as to whether Carr filed a bar complaint because he knew the Supreme Court had previously decreed that breach of an ethics rule gives rise to only a public, e.g., disciplinary remedy and not a private remedy.

1

On August 18, 2010 Ralph Carr served an unfiled summons and complaint on Norman Cohen and Verlaine Keith-Miller. That suit was drafted, signed, served and eventually filed under cause no. 10-2-34254-1 by attorney Michael Flynn. Flynn called it ""Complaint for Judgment on Supreme Court Order for Restitution". CP 150. That lawsuit, the "10-2-34254-1 matter" was a civil cause of action for violations of the RPCs. CP 4; CP 43-45; CP 46-57; CP 58-62; CP 110-112

The "10-2-24352-1 matter" was not resolved until May 27, 2014 when appellant's co- defendant Verlaine Keith-Miller negotiated and entered into a May 27, 2014 accord. Cohen did not settle. CP 153 Keith-Miller and Carr settled the year after

[10]

Keith-Miller assigned to Cohen all of her claims – choses in action- against Respondents. [CP 162-163] Plaintiff is pursuing these suits both on his own behalf and as Keith-Miller's assignee.

1

Carr's August 2010 cause of action against Cohen is the subject of appellant's first and fourth and fifth assignments of error. The complaint, was drafted, signed, served and prosecuted on Carr's behalf by attorney Michael Flynn. He attached a copy of the Supreme Court's March 23, 2006 order CP4: CP 44.

Although the 10-2-34254-1 complaint is not of record ¹ the Supreme Court's March 23, 2006 order is of record. CP 4. At one point Flynn the 10-2-34254-1 complaint as mechanism to convert the restitution order to a Superior Court Judgment" because Flynn" needed a Superior Court judgment

¹ An April 8, 2015 order sustaining Respondents' objections to appellant's request for Clerk's Papers prevents appellant from making the 10-2-34254-1 complaint a matter of record. In the quantitative sense, if not the qualitative sense, the April 8, 2015 has stultified appellant's capacity to submit a satisfactory clutch of Clerk's Papers.

in order to execute or garnish. CP 45. Flynn labelled the suit "Complaint for Judgment on Supreme Court Order for Restitution". CP 150. Although he was seeking enforcement and/or conversion of a restitution order he unequivocally rejected the idea that the 10-2-34254-1 matter was malpractice suit or a restitution suit. CP 60-62

τ

On August 30, 2010, twelve days after service of process, Cohen appeared at the Clerk's with both defendants' written notice of appearance CP 21 it was impossible to file them because the Summons and Complaint had not been filed. CP 21 On August 31, 2010 Cohen emailed defendants' notices of appearance to Carr's attorney Michael Flynn. CP 21

On August 31, 2010 Flynn acknowledged receipt of those notices of appearance. Flynn responded "Email is not a proper notice of appearance under the court rules. I will consider you as having appeared when I receive proper

[12]

service of appearances." CP 21 At 9:45 p.m. on Labor Day, 2010 Cohen left a voice mail on attorney Flynn's phone message stating: "This is Norman Cohen. This is Defendants' second notice of appearance." CP 21-22

1

On September 28, 2010 Flynn filed the Summons and Complaint but Flynn did not mail the Court's order Assigning Judge and Establishing Case Schedule. If Flynn had done so, defendants would have been notified the case had been filed. CP 22

Although Flynn had received defendants' written unsigned notice of appearance on August 31, 2010 as well as defendants' verbal notice of appearance on Labor Day 2010, Flynn moved for default without notice to either defendant on October 27, 2010. CP 22; CP 228-229.

As Flynn phrased it, "Carr submitted and was awarded Judgment". CP 22; On October 27, 2010 an order of Default and a Default judgment

[13]

were entered over the signature of Commissioner Carlos Velatagui based on Flynn's perjurious declaration. CP 230 According to Flynn's sworn statement, "Defendants have neither appeared nor in any other way defended." CP 228-229 the default judgment which Flynn presented also included Flynn's false statement that defendants have "neither appeared nor in any other way defended". CP 20-24; CP 228 -229; CP 231.

ſ

.

On November 10 2010 the writ of garnishment which constitutes the basis of appellant's cause of action against Mr. Carr was issued. CP 22 Flynn delayed transmitting a copy of the court's default judgment to Cohen or Keith-Miller until the time within which to file a motion to revise a commissioner's order had elapsed. Appellant and his wife received a copy of the court's Default Judgment and a copy of the Court's Writ of Garnishment on November 17, 2010. This was Cohen & Keith-Miller's first notice that Flynn

[14]

had either moved for or obtained a default judgment. CP 20-24

۲

Cohen & Keith-Miller retained attorney Allan Munro who prepared their declarations in support of appellant's motion to vacate the default judgment of October 27, 2010 and to vacate the Writ of Garnishment issued November 10, 2010. CP 150; CP 233-234. On November 30, 2010 an Order to Show Cause issued directing Carr to appear before Judge Mary Yu on January14, 2011 to show because why the court should not vacate the October 27, 2010 default judgment and why the court should not vacate the writ of garnishment. CP 233-234

On January14, 2011 Judge Yu presided over a hearing which was to determine whether to vacate the October 27, 2010 default judgment and whether to vacate the November 10, 2010 writ of garnishment. The parties to that litigation were Ralph Carr, Norman Cohen and Verlaine Keith-

[15]

Miller. Judge Yu granted Cohen & Keith-Miller's "motion to vacate Order of Default, Default judgment and Garnishment" CP19 With the exception of Cohen & Keith-Miller's request for terms the Cohen - Keith-Miller tandem won and Carr lost. CP 233-234; CP 19; CP 20-24. That order is final. Carr's untimely appeal to this court was dismissed. Mr. Munro's fees and expense equaled \$4916.29 including defense of Carr's appeal to this court. CP 148-152

1

Appellant's pleadings in response to the 10-2-34252-1 complaint included failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted CR 12(b)(6) CP 38; CP 109; CP 29; CP 32 based on <u>Hizey v.</u> <u>Carpenter</u>, 119 Wn.2d 251, 830 P.2d 646 (1992) appellant interposed the affirmative defense " failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." CP 29; CP 32.

On June 8, 2012 Judge Yu granted Respondents' motion for summary judgment action against

[16]

appellant for violations of the "rules of lawyer conduct". Concomitantly she entered money judgment against Cohen. CP 109; CP 112

ş

So far as relevant to this case, the gravamen of Mr. Munro's brief in opposition to summary judgment was predicated on Cohen's CR 12(b)(6) defense; summary judgment could not be granted because: <u>Hizey v. Carpenter</u> 119 Wn.2d 251; 830 P.2d 646 (1992),[later cited by the Supreme court in <u>Bank of</u> <u>America v. David W. Hubert, P.C.</u>, 153 Wn. 2d 102 (2004)] <u>Bank of America</u>, supra, will be referred to hereinafter as "Bank of America" and <u>Hizey v.</u> <u>Carpenter</u>, supra, will be referred to as "Hizey"

As noted, Munro argued, "Hizey"

"Unequivocally and clearly holds that a violation of the professional code for attorneys may be remedied only by a disciplinary proceeding. Such violation may not serve as the basis for a private cause of action".

Mr. Munro made it clear that Cohen's CR 12 (b) (6) defense was predicated on <u>Hizey and Bank of</u>

<u>America</u>, supra. He also made voiced his view that the *Hizey and Bank of America were absolute.* He argued

)

"Unequivocally and clearly holds that a violation of the professional code for attorneys may be remedied only by a disciplinary proceeding. Such violation may not serve as the basis for a private cause of action".

(a) The parties' briefs in the above and foregoing summary judgment proceeding portray a stark contrast between Flynn's position in the case sub judice and the underlying case. Appellant's attorney Allan Munro's brief in opposition to Carr's motion for summary judgment included the following language:

The Supreme Court of Washington . . . has held plainly and unequivocally that violations of the Code do not give rise to an independent cause of action. Breach of ethics rule provides only a public, e.g., disciplinary and not a private remedy. In *Hizey v Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251 (1992) the Supreme Court held the Code of Professional Responsibility and the Rules of Professional Conduct do not set forth a standard for civil liability. Thus violations of the provisions do not give rise to an independent cause of action against an attorney. The court held that "Breach of an ethics rule provides only a public, e.g. disciplinary remedy and not a private remedy.

Flynn's reply brief asserts:

Cohen argues that "breach of an ethics rule gives rise to only a public , e.g., disciplinary remedy and not a private remedy" Cases cited by Cohen (*Hizey and Bank of America v. David W. Hubert, P.C.*, 153 Wn. 2d 102 (2004) do not support his position. They simply hold that in the absence of traditional grounds for suit, violations of the rule of lawyer conduct alone do not support actions against attorneys. (Emphasis added) CP 60-62

Appellant's position as articulated by Mr. Munro fell on deaf ears. "Messrs. Flynn and Carr's" position that neither Hizey nor Bank of America; preclude an action for violation of the RPC prevailed. Cohen's CR 12(b) (6) was, as a matter of law, not a good and sufficient defense to the 10-2-34254-1 matter. The June 8, 2012 judgement was a judgment based on a civil cause of action for

[19]

violation of the RPCs. CP 4; CP 43-45; CP 46-57;

CP 58-62; CP 110-112

- 4

Flynn's 13-2-38375-6 answer admits:

"In May of 2012 defendant Flynn prepared a motion for summary judgment as to Carr's first cause of action in Cause No. 10-2 34254-1. Cohen asserted several defenses to that motion including the defense that an individual's sole remedy for an attorney's breach of the RPC's lie in the attorney disciplinary system. That defense was based on case law that holds that an attorney' violation of the RPC does not give rise to a civil cause of action. The court granted summary judgment and entered a money judgment against Cohen on June 8, 2012. CP 109; CP 105

On September 2, 2014 the trial court granted two motions for summary judgment and denied Appellant's one motion for summary judgment. The trial court dismissed appellant's suit and dismissed Flynn's counter claims for damages caused by Appellant's alleged frivolous lawsuit. CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185. CP 224 The trial court's September 2, 2004 order states:

[20]

The above entitled court having read both parties motions for respective summary judgments, each party's response, and each party's reply, and having read and reviewed the exhibits and declarations attached thereto, and the Court having reviewed the files and pleadings herein, the Court hereby makes the following <u>FINDINGS</u> and issues the following order :

[Emphasis added]

\$

On October 21, 2014 the trial court denied appellant's motion(s) for reconsideration. Notice of Appeal was filed November 18, 2014. CP 222.

IV. Summary of Argument

A. The trial court erroneously engaged in a forbidden fact finding endeavor. At CP 224 – line 15 the trial court effectively transformed three motions for summary judgment into mini-trials by affidavit.

B. The "inconsistent position" element of judicial estoppel is the only issue Flynn raised and the "inconsistent position" issue is the only judicial estoppel issue decided. Appellant has adduced abundant evidence constituting, at the very least, a prima facie case of "inconsistent position" within the meaning of judicial estoppel. These facts include, but are not necessarily limited to: a. Flynn "advanced the position that there is a civil cause of action for violation of the RPCs by means of signing, serving and prosecuting an action grounded on appellant's violations of the RPC's.

١

b. Flynn signed, served and prosecuted a motion for summary judgment in the 10-2-34254-1 matter.
He argued that CR 12(b)(6) was not a defense to his action for violations of the RPC's.

c. Flynn' June 2012 summary judgment reply brief portrays a clearly inconsistent position as compared to this case. In this case he posits <u>Hizey</u> as the precedential basis for his CR 12 (b)(6) defense. In the previous case he claimed that Hizey does not support a CR 12(b)(6) defense.

d. In sum, and as a matter of law, the fact that Flynn moved for and was granted summary judgment in the 10-2-34254-1 matter means that he persuaded a court that CR 12(b)(6) is not a good and sufficient defense to civil action for violations of the RPCs. By contrast in this case he

[22]

has advocated for and been awarded summary judgment on the ground that THIS action for violations of the RPC is subject to dismissal for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

B.. Wrongful Garnishment

١

1. Carr is collaterally estopped from denying that the November 10, 2010 writ of garnishment was wrongfully issued. The wrongful garnishment statute which the trial court misconstrued is neither the only nor the most important ground of this appeal. Carr can be held civilly liable for violating least one criminal statute. He can be held civilly liable because he converted appellant's property. He can be held for outrageous conduct and he can be held liable for fraud and for negligence per se.

3. The trial court failed to appreciate the significance of Keith-Miler's May 2013 assignment of her chose in action to Cohen.

[23]

4. The trial court misconstrued RCW 6.26.040. The trial court did not take into consideration that the underlying case was a one plaintiff two defendant case. The statute contemplates only one defendant.

V. ARGUMENT

4

A. SUMMARY JUDGMENT RULES IN GENERAL

This court is reviewing an order granting summary judgment. Consequently this court engages in the same inquiry under CR. 56 as the trial court did, or as applied to this case, this court will engage in the same inquiry you are the trial court should have. The trial court violated a basic principle governing motions for summary judgment. This court would be loath to repeat it. In all events, summary judgment should be granted if the admissible evidence shows there is no genuine issue as to any material fact **and** that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). (emphasis added) <u>Mielke, v. Yellowstone Pipeline</u>

[24]

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