No. 72718-4-I

IN THE WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE

Norman Cohen,

Appellant,

٧.

Ralph Carr, Jr. and Michael L Flynn,

Respondents.

On Appeal from the King County Superior Court, Seattle Courthouse

Case No. 13-2-38375-6 SEA

The Honorable Roger Rogoff

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF IN RESPONSE

AND

DECLARATION OF MAILING

LAW OFFICES OF GLENN BISHOP, PLLC 33650 6TH Ave South, Suite 102 Federal Way, WA 98003 Tel: (206) 400-7278

ORIGINAL.

Glenn Bishop WSBA No. 41269 Attorney for Respondents

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

Collateral estoppel prevents a single issue from being relitigated, rather than an entire claim. Hanson v Snohomish, 121 Wn.2d 552, 561, 852 P.2d 295 (1993). Collateral estoppel requires that (1) the issue decided in the prior adjudication must be identical with the one presented in the second; (2) the prior adjudication must have ended in a final judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom the plea is asserted was a party or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; and (4) application of the doctrine must not work an injustice. Hanson, *supra*, at 562.

The issue of "wrongfulness" was never litigated at all in Carr/Cohen, let alone a determination made. Cohen's briefing on this topic admits the show cause order directed Carr to appear,

To show cause why the court should not vacate the October 27, 2010 default judgment and why the court should not vacate the writ of garnishment.

Cohen Brief at Pg.15, para. 2. Cohen does not claim that the show cause order was for the purpose of determining whether the writ

was wrongful. This is supported by the order to show cause itself, which is also silent on the topic of wrongfulness. CP at 99-101. The outcome of the hearing was that Judge Yu vacated the default judgment and quashed the garnishment that depended upon it; but she voiced no opinion at any time about whether the garnishment was wrongful. CP at 46-50.

Further, assuming *arguendo* that Judge Yu had made this determination, no final determination was made as to the merits of Carr/Cohen; instead, it ended in settlement. CP at 64-65.

Wrongfulness was never litigated in Carr/Cohen, and that suit never produced a judgment on the merits; collateral estoppel cannot apply. <u>Hanson</u>, *supra*, at 561. Cohen's false assertion of a finding of wrongfulness, a "fact" critical to his argument, is unsupported by the record and is insufficient for summary judgment under <u>Baldwin</u>, *supra*, at 132. Carr is thus free to assert in this case that the garnishment in question was not wrongful.

F. May Cohen Raise New Causes of Action and Arguments on Appeal?

Cohen raises issues on appeal that were not included in his complaint or argued at summary judgment. He raised none of

these issues in the lower court and may not raise them for the first time on appeal.

1. Cohen's Causes of Action Are Limited to Wrongful Garnishment Because That Was All He Pled and Asserted Below.

Cohen urges this Court to consider that "RCW 6.26.040 is far from an exclusive remedy," and reconsider his case based on new causes of action for conversion, negligence, outrageous conduct, and civil liability arising out of criminal conduct. Cohen Brief at Pgs. 37, 7-8. Each of these is raised for the first time on appeal. Cohen did not plead these causes of action in his Complaint, CP at 67-70, or raise them in any briefing on summary judgment. The appellate court will not review an issue, theory, argument, or claim of error raised for the first time on appeal.

Ainsworth v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co., 180 Wn.App. 52, 80-81, 322 P.3d 6 (2014). Carr and Flynn had no opportunity to address any of these claims in the lower court. The lower court never considered them at all. They are improper, and should be disregarded by this Court.

Moreover, Cohen provides no evidence to support any of these new claims; instead positing merely that they exist.

Washington courts have held that summary judgment cannot be

granted on mere speculation and argumentative assertions that some unresolved issue remains in the case. <u>Seven Gables</u>, *supra*, at 13.

2. Cohen Raises Issues About An Alleged Assignment For the First Time On Appeal.

Cohen now asserts for the first time arguments related to an alleged assignment of claims from VKM to himself. Cohen made no mention of assignment in his Complaint to this lawsuit. CP at 67-70. He did mention an assignment in his summary judgment motion, CP at 162, but made no argument related to it in his briefing. He provided no evidence of an assignment. Cohen raises his argument related to assignment for the first time in this appeal, which he cannot do. Cohen Brief at Pgs. 39-40. Ainsworth, supra, at 80-81.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Cohen had raised this issue below, the argument must fail.

First, the assertion of an assignment is unsupported by the record. One can bring suit on an assigned claim only where the assignment is in writing. RCW 4.08.080. Nothing in the record indicates that the alleged VKM-to-Cohen assignment was in writing.

Moreover, even if an assignment actually exists, Cohen mentioned it for the first time in briefing for summary judgment, CP at 162, months after the settlement. Since he had not previously notified Carr of the assignment, Carr's settlement of the case with VKM is enforceable. Stansbery v. Medo-Land Dairy, Inc., 5 Wn.2d, 328, 337, 105 P.2d, 86 (1940).

Finally, and again, assuming the assignment actually exists, even if assigned, VKM thereafter maintained the ability to manage community property. <u>RCW 26.16.030</u>. Her claim against Carr was property and her settlement of that chose in action was a valid act of managing it. <u>RCW 26.16.030</u>.

3. The Rules of Construction Make RCW 6.26.040 Applicable to Multiple Defendant Lawsuits.

Carr/Flynn frankly do not understand Cohen's argument which he makes here for the first time on appeal. They address the most likely connotation below.

Cohen urges this Court to rule that since RCW 6.26.040 does not specifically address a multi-party lawsuit it cannot be applied to him. The rules of construction say otherwise.

RCW 6.26.040 appears below in its entirety:

In all actions in which a prejudgment writ of garnishment has been issued by a court and served

upon a garnishee, in the event judgment is not entered for the plaintiff on the claim sued upon by plaintiff, and the claim has not voluntarily been settled or otherwise satisfied, the defendant shall have an action for damages against the plaintiff. The defendant's action for damages may be brought by way of a counterclaim in the original action or in a separate action and, in the action the trier of fact, in addition to other actual damages sustained by the defendant, may award the defendant reasonable attorney's fees.

Among other things, the statute allows a lawsuit for wrongful garnishment on a pre-judgment writ only where the claim was not settled by the defendant.

The Rules of Construction codified within the Washington Revised Code provide guidance on singular and plural nouns, stating that:

Words importing the singular number may also be applied to the plural of persons and things; words importing the plural may be applied to the singular; and words importing the masculine gender may be extended to females also.

RCW 1.12.050. Thus, the code drafters provide the Court with the direction to view single defendants as multiple, and multiple as singular.

Further, RCW 1.12.010, "Code to be Liberally Construed" uses the mandatory "shall" in stating that "[t]he provisions of this

code shall be liberally construed, and shall not be limited by any rule of strict construction."

Moreover, this is, again, an argument raised for the first time on appeal and subject to the prohibition of new arguments on appeal. Ainsworth, *supra*, at 80-81.

4. Cohen Was a Party to the Settlement.

The parties settled Carr/Cohen on May 27, 2014, by written agreement. CP at 64-65. There Cohen and VKM each agreed to "dismiss with prejudice all claims" against both Carr and Flynn in that suit. Cohen now contends that he was not a party to that settlement, and thus, his claims should not have been dismissed.

Aside from the fact that the language of the document states that Cohen dismissed his claims (CP at 64-65), Cohen admits "[a]II three parties dismissed all of their Case No. 10-2-34254-1 causes of action." CP at 163, para. 4. The parties to that settlement were Cohen, VKM, and Carr. CP at 64-65. Thus Cohen contradicts his numerous statements that he was not a party to the settlement. Cohen Brief at Pgs. 8, 10, 39-40.

Finally, Cohen's status as a party to the settlement is not critical in view of the public policy in favor of settling debts.

Stottlemyre v. Reed, 35 Wn.App. 169, 173, 665 P.2d 1383 (1983).

("The Law favors the private settlement of disputes and is inclined to view them with finality"). As the lower court pointed out, public policy supports the concept of disallowing a wrongful garnishment claim against a creditor who subsequently settles a legitimate debt with the debtor. To rule otherwise would be out of step "with commonsense and public policy," because "[i]f the debt (not the *order*, but the *debt*) was valid, then allowing the debtor to sue the creditor for trying to collect that valid debt makes little sense." CP at 249. **Emphasis** in the original.

G. Can This Court Affirm On Previously Rejected Defenses?

Defenses raised by Carr and Flynn and improperly rejected below can support this Court's affirmation of the trial court's decision to dismiss Cohen's action. Carr and Flynn reassert them here. This Court may affirm on any basis supported by the record. Swinehart, *supra*, at 844.

1. Carr and Flynn Re-Assert the Defenses Of Compulsory Counterclaim and *Res Judicata*.

Carr/Flynn argued the defenses of compulsory counterclaim and *res judicata* on summary judgment. CP at 147-149,149-152, respectively. They argued that the garnishment of VKM's earnings was a compulsory counterclaim that arose prior to the filing of their

Answers in Carr/Cohen, and that Cohen could not thereafter raise it in this case. <u>CR 13(a)</u>.

Judge Rogoff rejected Carr/Flynn's position and held that RCW 6.26.040 allows one to bring a suit for wrongful garnishment in an action separate from the underlying suit.

Judge Rogoff's reliance on RCW 6.26.040 was erroneous. The garnishment of VKM's earnings was issued under a different RCW Chapter, RCW 6.27. It was not a pre-judgment writ, it was issued after entry of a default judgment. The two types of garnishment are further discussed in a request for attorney fees, *infra*, at pages 42-43.

The undersigned could find no Washington court decisions that apply RCW 6.26 to post-judgment garnishments, which are the subject of RCW Chapter 6.27. However, the language of RCW 6.26.070 is significant. It states:

Application of chapter 6.27 RCW to prejudgment garnishments. Except as otherwise provided, the provisions of chapter 6.27 RCW governing garnishments apply to prejudgment garnishments.

The legislature thus applies RCW 6.27 to prejudgment writs, but says nothing about applying RCW 6.26 to post-judgment writs.

No section corresponding to RCW 6.26.070 appears in RCW 6.27.

It is evident that the legislature considered the cross-application of these two forms of garnishment and decided not to apply the provisions of RCW 6.26 to writs issued after judgment.

Since RCW 6.26.040, allowing a separate action for a wrongful garnishment, does not apply to the post-judgment writ at issue here, the lower court's refusal to dismiss the claim as a violation of the compulsory counterclaim rule was erroneous. A compulsory counterclaim defense should have prevailed, particularly in light of the fact that all three Carr/Cohen Answers were filed after the vacation of the default judgment and the garnishment was quashed. CP at 52-54, 55-58, 60-62, 72-74, respectively. If Cohen wanted to bring a claim for wrongful garnishment, CR 13(a) required that he do so in Carr/Cohen, not in a separate suit, and he had ample opportunity to do so.

a. Wrongful garnishment was a compulsory counterclaim, waived when neither Cohen nor VKM asserted it in Carr/Cohen.

Compulsory counterclaims are governed by CR 13(a) which states in relevant part:

(a) Compulsory Counterclaims. A pleading shall state as a counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing

party's claim and does not require for its adjudication the presence of third parties of whom the court cannot acquire jurisdiction...

A counterclaim is therefore compulsory if (1) it exists at the time the party asserting the claim serves its pleading on any opposing party, (2) it arises out of the "transaction or occurrence" that forms the basis for the original filed claim; and (3) the counterclaim requires no new parties over whom the court lacks jurisdiction.

i. Cohen's cause of action for wrongful garnishment existed when he served his answers in Carr/Cohen.

If Cohen's cause of action against Carr/Flynn exists now it also existed when the garnishment was quashed on Jan 14, 2011, weeks prior to the filing of Cohen and VKM's Answers, and five months before Cohen filed his Amended Answer on June 6, 2011. CP at 44, 52-54, 56-58, 60-62.

ii. The wrongful garnishment cause of action arose "out of the same transaction or occurrence" as did Carr's suit against Cohen.

Both the collection action and the garnishment action arose from Carr's effort through the Carr/Cohen action to enforce the Supreme Court Order that required Cohen to pay Carr restitution. It was all part of the same undertaking.

"A liberal and broad construction of Rule 13(a) is appropriate to avoid a multiplicity of suits." Schoeman v. New York Life Ins Co., 106 Wn.2d 855, 864, 726 P.2d 1 (1986). In Schoeman, id., the Court addressed the question of when a claim "arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim" and adopted a "logical relationship" test. In adopting this test the court quoted from Moore's Federal Practice, Schoeman, *supra*, at 865:

[C]ourts should give the phrase "transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the suit" a broad realistic interpretation in the interest of avoiding a multiplicity of suits. [...] any claim that is logically related to another claim that is being sued on is properly the basis for a compulsory counterclaim.

Again quoting Moore, the Court stated that, "'[t]ransaction' is a word of flexible meaning. It may comprehend a series of many occurrences, depending not so much upon the immediateness of their connection as upon their logical relationship." <u>Schoeman</u>, at 866.

The Court's use of a broad and liberal construction of "arises from" in the CR 13(a) context is consistent with the Court's analysis of the phrase in another context. A claim against a defendant under the Long Arm Statute, RCW 4.28.185, "arises from" the

defendant's Washington contacts if it would not have occurred "but for" those contacts. Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines, 113 Wn.2d 763, 783 P.2d 78 (1989). (Plaintiff injured on cruise booked as a result of defendant's advertising within State "arises from" the advertising).

Garnishments arise from the suit from which they originate, a fact that Cohen admits when he states that a garnishment "is not an original proceeding, rather it is an ancillary proceeding," dependent upon a principal action. CP at 166.

One can't imagine a garnishment action that is logically unrelated to the suit from which it arose, since post-judgment garnishment is no more than enforcement of the rights and obligations determined in the underlying suit. That direct relation compels the conclusion that both the underlying claim and the garnishment arise from the same transaction or occurrence.

iii. This action requires no new parties over whom the Court lacks jurisdiction.

Cohen and Carr are both parties to the previous and the present action. Cohen added Flynn as a new party to the action; but Flynn was served with process, appeared, and is subject to the jurisdiction of the Court.

iv. Cohen's failure to assert a counterclaim in Carr/Cohen bars this later suit.

"The failure to assert a mandatory counterclaim bars a later action on that claim." Schoeman, at 863, citing Krivaca v. Weber, 43 Wn.App. 217, 716 P.2d 916 (1986). Cohen's failure to assert his claim in the prior action served as a bar to bringing it in this subsequent action. As Cohen's claim is barred, there is no material issue of fact to address; the Court should have dismissed the wrongful garnishment claim at summary judgment.

Thus all elements which bar Cohen's action for wrongful garnishment under CR 13(a) are here in play: his alleged wrongful garnishment claim existed when all three answers were filed in Carr/Cohen; it arose from the same transaction or occurrence here as there; and this action requires no new parties over whom the Court lacks jurisdiction.

b. *Res judicata* barred Cohen From bringing a second action.

The lower court did not reject the defense of *res judicata* outright, but apparently conflated it with the compulsory counterclaim defense under the impression that the compulsory counterclaim argument made the wrongful garnishment claim "subject to res judicata". Please see CP at 247, para 2. The claim

of compulsory counterclaim is separate and distinct from that of *res judicata*, and Carr/Flynn contend that each is applicable to the present case.

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